Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No. FHWA/TX-95/1464F	2. Government Access	on No. 3.	Recipient's Catalog No		
4. Title and Subtitle REMOTE SOURCE LIGHTING WITH FIBEROPTICS			5. Report Date November 96		
		6.1	Performing Organization Code		
7. Author(s)		8.1	Performing Organizatio	on Report No.	
Roger S. Walker, and Far	chien Chen	R	Research Repo	rt 1464-F	
9. Performing Organization Name and Address		10	Work Unit No. (TRAIS)	
The University of Texas at Arlington Arlington, TX 76019		11	. Contract or Grant No. Project No. 0-1	464	
12 Spansoring Agapay Name and Addrose		13	13. Type of Report and Period Covered		
Texas Department of Transportation			September 94-August 96		
 Research and Technology P. O. Box 5080, Austin, TX 	Transfer Office 78763-5080	14.	14. Sponsoring Agency Code		
75. Supplementary Notes Research perfomed in cooperation with the Texas Department of Transportation. Research project title: Fiberoptic Applications for Traffic Signal and Roadway Illumination System					
 16. Abstract This report provides the results from a study to determine possible uses of fiber optical light guides for remote source lighting for the Texas Department of Transportation. Fiber light guides are currently used within the Department for changeable message signs and signal heads. The investigation primarily considered its use for street, tunnel, and navigation lighting. The information in the report could help the designer for specific lighting configurations. The study as will be discussed in the report, has basically concluded that fiber optics for remote source lighting has many possibilities for transportation related needs and in fact are currently being implemented for changeable message signs and signal heads. However, the technology still requires additional improvements or break-throughs for efficient usage before the full extent of the technology can be realized for the specific application areas investigated. 					
Remote Source Lighting, F guides	iber light	No restrictions. This document is available to the public through the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia 22161.			
19. Security ClassiF. (of this report)	20. Security Class	f. (of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price	
	Unclassified		01		

Form DOT F 1700.7 18-72)

METRIC CONVERSION FACTORS

To Find

inches

inches

feet

yards

miles

.....

ounces

pounds .

short tons

fluid ounces

pinte

quarts

gallons

cubic feet

Fahranhait

160

.....

temperature

• F

200 1

82

100 PC

cubic yards

,

square inches

squere yards

squere miles

Symbol.

in

la.

Ħ

٧đ

mi

in²

70²

0t

16

11 02

pt

qt

gel ft³

rd3

•#

-12 Approximate Conversions to Metric Measures Approximate Conversions from Metric Measures [...]..l..l..l 12 Multiply by Symbol When You Know Symbol When You Knew Muttiply by To Find Symbol ä LENGTH 8 LENGTH mittimeters 0.04 **TV** 2 cm contimeters 0.4 meters 3.3 m *2.5 in inches Centimeters cm 1.1 m meters Ħ 30 cm. feet centimeters km. kilometers 0.6 ٧đ yards 0.9 meters m 1.6 km mi miles kilometers 5 AREA AREA 9 ст² m² 0.16 aquare centimeters in² ft² yd² mi² دس ۳ 6.5 square inches square centimeters 2 square meters 1.2 square feet 0.09 square meters lum² squere kilometers 0.4 0.8 hectares (10,000 m²) square yards souare meters 2.8 ha 1 km² 2.6 square kilometers souare miles acres 0,4 hectores ha 2 MASS (weight) . MASS (weight) 2 0.035 . gr 8-mg 28 ounces grams 01 9 2.2 kilograms hg = pounds 0.45 kg IЪ kilograms tonnes (1000 kg) 1.1 1 short tons 0.9 tonnes 1 (2000 lb) 2 VOLUME VOLUME 0.03 ml miltititers milliliters mt 110 teaspoons 6 2.1 1 liters milliliters ml 15 Thep tablespoons 1 liters 1.06 11 01 30 mililiters ml Huid ounces fiters 0.26 1 Cups 0.24 liters ÷ c m3 cubic meters 38 0.47 liters 1 pt pints **"**3 cubic meters 1.3 0,95 liters 1 quarts ٩١ gal ft³ gallons 3,8 liters 1 ۳, cubic feet 0.03 cubic meters **TEMPERATURE** (exact) ^س، yd³ cubic yards 0,76 cubic meters TEMPERATURE (exact) *c 9/5 (then Calsius add 32) temperature • 1 °c 5/9 (afim Celsius Fahrenheit temperature temperature subtracting 371 • • 32 98.6 120 40 80 - 4 0 ٥ 40 37 60 -40 •c - 20 ò 20 ٤

Implementation Statement

This report provides results from a study to determine the use of the fiber light guide for remote source lighting in the Texas Department of Transportation. Such technology is currently being implemented for changeable message signs and in signal heads. The study investigated its use for street, tunnel, and navigation lighting. The study concluded that, although it might soon be possible for practical usage of fiber lighting for these application areas, it didn't appear practical at this time. Thus no implementation recommendations are provided. On the other hand, the report can provide the lighting engineer with useful information regarding this new technology, and aid in following the rapidly changing advances in this field. Thus, as such advances occur. Texas Department personnel will be in a position to implement this technology for these areas in a timely manner.

Author's Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official view or policies of the Federal Highway Administration or the Texas Department of Transportation. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

Patent Disclaimer

There was no invention or discovery conceived or first actually reduced to practice in the course of or under this contract, including any art, method, process, machine, manufacture, design or composition of matter, or any new useful improvement thereof, or any variety of plant, which is or may be patented under the patent laws of the United States of America or any foreign country.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the Texas Department of Transportation project director and project advisors who where very helpful in the initial discussions of this investigation. These members include:

Karl Burkett, TRF Catherine Wolff, MAT Don Ninke, TRF Nader Ayoub, TRF Doug Vanover, Houston District Klaus Alkier, RTT

Special acknowledgment is given to Karl Burkett, the Texas Department of Transportation project director for his guidance and support for this effort. Thanks should also be given to Fred Muller of the Minnesota Department of Transportation (MDOT) for organizing a meeting for discussing fiber lighting uses at MDOT as well as the lighting engineers at 3M, and the researchers at the Lawrence Berkley Laboratory who were very helpful in discussing current fiber lighting research efforts.

Table of Contents

Metric Conversion Factors Implementation Statement Author's Disclaimer, Patent Disclaimer Acknowledgments List of Illustrations		
Chapter 1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1
	Introduction.	1
	Fiber Ontion	2
	Scope and Report Outline	2
Chapter 2		6
	Remote Source Lighting Concepts	6
	The Light Pipe	6
	Total Internal Reflection	8
	Fiber Light Guides	10
	Coupling	12
	Mode and Propagation Considerations Attenuation Concepts	13 14
Chapter 3		18
	Fiber Light Guide Model	18
	Monte Carlo Method	18
	Optic Fibers	19
	The Density Function	19
	The Modeling of Straight Fibers	21
	Results and Discussion	24
Chapter 4		28
	Economical and Implementation Considerations	28
	The Ideal Fiber Guide	28
	Street Lighting	29
	Tunnel Lighting	32
	Navigation Lighting	33
	Uther Possible Uses	34
		22
Chapter 5		36
	Conclusions	36
Reference List		38

List of Illustrations

Figure 2-1.	Light Transport VS Aspect Ratio for a Light Pipe	7
Figure 2-2.	A Light Ray Incident Upon the Surface of Water is Bent Toward the Normal	8
Figure 2-3.	Total Internal Refection in a Fiber Cable	10
Figure 2-4.	Acceptance Cone and Angle of a Fiber	10
Figure 2-5.	Bundled Fiber Guide	11
Figure 2-6	Coupling Efficiency Versus Acceptance Half Angle	13
Figure 2-7.	Single Mode Fiber	14
Figure 2-8.	Multi-mode Fiber	14
Figure 2-9.	Electromagnetic Spectrum Showing Approximate Boundaries Between Spectral Regions Used for Optic Fiber	15
Figure 2-10.	Typical Attenuation Characteristics of Light as it Travels Through Plastic and Silicon Fiber Guides	16
Figure 2-11.	Spectral Distribution of the Light Source	17
Figure 3-1.	Surface Description of the Core of a Fiber	22
Figure 3-2.	Critical Angle Losses for a Sample Plastic Optical Fiber	25
Figure 3-3.	Effective Length for a Cladded Plastic Optical Fiber	26
Figure 3-4.	Efficiency of a Plastic Optical Fiber Considering Critical Angle, Fresnel, and Extinction Losses	26
Figure 4.1	The Loss for A Coupling Fiber Optic System	30
Figure 4.2	Typical Street Lighting Configuration	32

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Replacement of bulbs for traffic signal and other highway illumination systems is time consuming, hazardous, and requires heavy equipment. Bulbs require replacement either because of failure or scheduled replacement. For example, in some locations traffic signal bulbs are routinely replaced at predetermined intervals. The primary problem with these illumination systems is that the bulbs are located over active lanes of traffic. To change bulbs, a truck with a lift system is generally parked in an active lane of traffic while a crew member is elevated in the lift basket into a position from which bulb replacement can be accomplished. This problem of interfering with traffic causes problems for the traveling public, as well as, exposes crew members to hazardous situations.

This report provide the results of a study for the Texas Department of Transportation to investigate the usage of remote source lighting using fiber light guides for various Texas Department of Transportation lighting applications. The study as will be discussed in the report, has basically concluded that fiber optics for remote source lighting has many possibilities for transportation related needs and in fact are currently being implemented for changeable message signs and signal heads. However, the technology still requires additional improvements or breakthroughs for efficient usage before the full extent of the technology can be realized for the specific application areas investigated. The two main problems found limiting its usage for these applications are the attenuation losses and the problems of sending large amounts of luminous flux. For example, 50 percent attenuation in a 10 meter fiber light guide is typical, not including losses in coupling the light source to the light guide, and extracting this light from the guide at the other end, etc. On the other hand, remote source lighting has many advantages over conventional lighting and when these problems are solved, this technology would be useful for many transportation lighting applications. The technology is changing very rapidly and should thus be closely followed for possible usage in the many Texas Department of Transportation lighting applications.

It is the purpose of this report to discuss the findings of the investigation and also provide the traffic lighting engineer the advantage and limitations of current remote source lighting methods.

BACKGROUND:

During this past decade, many advancements have occurred in the electronic, laser, and optic fields. Although remote source lighting had been introduced much earlier, it has only been in the last few years that it has become a practical lighting methodology. The use of methods for the transmitting light rays has been around for many years. Details of the history of remote source lighting can be found in most libraries and is also included in several of the references in this report.

The early light guides were never very practical although there were a number of systems developed. In 1983 Lome Whitehead of the University of British Columbia in Vancouver, Canada and his colleague, Roy Nodwell founded TIR System, Ltd which began to first offer a prism light guide using total internal reflection. TIR sold a number of such systems in North America, Japan, and Europe. In 1985, 3M developed a technology known as microreplication which further enhanced the manufacturing of practical hollow light pipes for remote source lighting. With the introduction of the 3M prism light guide film the usage of the light pipe has increased for remote source lighting applications. The light pipe uses an open tube or a box which is surrounded by this special material and is able to transmit light inside the tube.

In the transportation field there are several applications of using the light pipe for tunnel and navigation lighting. Whereas the light pipe can transmit large amount of luminous flux, for applications such as room lighting, etc., it has a major problem in not being able to easily go around bends without considerable losses.

FIBER OPTICS:

Fiber optics are now being used in most new telecommunication networks. Such systems are used for transferring millions of bits of digital information for various voice, video, and computer networks applications. These communication applications are able to share the same facilities by the use of wide bandwidth channels and time division multiplexing. The infrared light source and silicon fiber provides a means for sending information at relatively little attenuation, noise interference, and cable weight. By the use of a similar type of fiber optic light guides, it is now possible to transmit light sources to remote locations for lighting applications. Although telecommunications can efficiently use fiber optics for transmission, requirements for remote source lighting are very different.

Remote source lighting using the fiber light guides are commonly found in many applications. Some typical applications include:

- swimming-pool lighting,
- indoor lighting for buildings (office, conference room, or hotel secondary lighting),

- museum and other decorative lighting,
- auditorium lighting,
- side-emitting fibers for continuous areas in pathways,
- outside building and/or decorative effects,
- roadway signs,
- medical uses (optical-fiber inspection devices),
- automobile instrument displays,
- hazard lighting.

Similar to the light pipe these applications continue to increase at a rapid pace and their possible uses in transportation related lighting is no exception. The technology is already commonly found in changeable message signs and signal heads. An advantage of this lighting for these two application is that the light pixels required for each of the letters in signs can more easily be controlled and distributed.

The major disadvantage of fiber light guides is the transmission light losses. For instance, for the changeable message signs, light is typically only transferred a few feet at most. For usage in roadway illumination or light signals with the light source located at the bottom of the pole, many feet of the fiber medium would be required to provide any significant maintenance advantage.

From a geometrical consideration, optical fibers have an advantage over the light pipe as light can more easily be routed to the various remote locations. The light pipe has a similar attenuation problem as the fiber light guide. However, because of it's diameter, it is easier to couple large amounts of light into the entrance for transmission and is thus more practical for large scale remote source lighting applications. The reasons for the use of light pipes instead of fiber light guides in many applications is noted in a recent CIE report. As stated in this report (CIE Technical Committee TC 3-30, Volume 1, March 1995.):

"With the recent improvements of optical fibers, many more researchers have considered the possibility of using them for efficient distribution of light for illumination, and several specialized applications of this type have evolved. However, such applications are limited to a rather small size scale, because these guides are generally too expensive to carry the large luminous flux required for conventional illumination."

This statement seems to hold true in the investigations performed.

SCOPE AND REPORT OUTLINE:

Early in the project, after discussing possible uses within the Department of fiber light guides with the Department's research committee, the committee specified that the study should be directed toward the use of fiber optics for street, navigation and tunnel lighting. The usage of fiber optics for changeable message signs was currently being implemented, and at the time, LED display devices appeared to be the most likely candidate for traffic signal lights. A comprehensive study underway was being conducted for the National Cooperative Highway Research Program to investigate the usage of the Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs) for traffic control signals. It was thought by the committee that the successful usage of LEDs would likely preclude most of the advantages of remote source lighting for traffic signals using fiber optics. Although, the study found that orange and red light could be used, it indicated problems with green and yellow. Thus it is still unclear if LED's could be used for the red-yellow-green signal heads. The final report for this study is summarized in [Ref 75]. During discussions with various manufacturers and transportation engineers, there was reference made on several occasions regarding existing signal heads using LED's for traffic lights.

The basic concepts used in remote source lighting as they are related to fiber light guides are described in Chapter 2. This chapter also discusses the concepts of total internal reflection followed by other light characteristics which effect successful light transmission.

Two of the tasks originally planned in the investigation work plan were to actually obtain some fiber light guides and equipment to evaluate one or more of the applications considered. During the latter part of the first year of the project it became apparent that a modification should be made in the work plan as initial investigations indicated that for the applications areas being considered, it would probably not be practical for implementation at this time. Thus it did not appear to be appropriate to purchase fiber guides and instrumentation as originally planned until more information could be obtained. This activity had been included in the research plan in order to purchase and test possible fiber light guide candidates for the lighting needs of the Texas Department of Transportation. It appeared that the results of such purchases would not provide much more information than could be obtained then by consulting the specifications, since the attenuation limitations were well specified by many of the manufacturers and in the literature. Also a number of laboratories across the country were already performing and reporting similar measurements. Thus with the current state of the technology, it was determined that the same results could essentially be achieved at less cost to the Texas Department of Transportation by consulting the specifications and modeling the fiber light guide. Furthermore, with the rapid changes in lighting sources, such as the electrodeless lamp, improvements in light guides, coupling, etc., the manufacturers were probably better qualified to initially perform such test, or at least until a configuration could be established with some potential of success for evaluation.

In reviewing the literature it was found that a fiber optic mathematical model had been developed by a group of researchers [Ref 31] for the study of the amount of light losses for various fiber configurations. Such a model could be beneficial for establishing what could be expected in the use for fiber light guides for various fiber parameters. It was hopeful that this model would be useful in supplementing the manufacturers specifications. It was found though that the model was not available for general public use. So, after reviewing the published material by the authors of the model, a similar model, limited to straight fiber analysis, was made during the last months of the project and is reported in Chapter 3.

Chapter 4 will discuss various configuration considerations for remote source lighting for some possible applications within the Department, along with costs and limitations.

Chapter 5 provides a summary of the study and possible future study topics.

CHAPTER 2

REMOTE SOURCE LIGHTING CONCEPTS

As noted in Chapter 1, considerable research has occurred over the past few years in the development of low loss fibers, primarily for communication applications. Typical telecommunication applications are concerned with low power signaling. Remote source lighting is concerned with transferring large amounts of luminous flux. Light losses are often what determines the success of such systems. These losses are small for telecommunication systems as the wavelength of the light used is in the infrared region where there is low loss. The wavelength of visible light is in a high loss region. These losses along with light coupling currently limit the successful usage of these systems for the applications considered within the Department. However, there are many successful uses of fiber light guides for remote source lighting, several of which are in transportation related fields as discussed in Chapter 1. Also noted in Chapter 1, the hollow light pipe, another form of remote source lighting, is being successfully used in many applications, a number of which are in the transportation field.

THE LIGHT PIPE:

At present, the light pipe (also sometimes referred to as the hollow light guide) is the most practical method for light transfer for applications requiring large amounts of luminous flux, such as room and building lighting. It has the advantage of carrying large amounts of light flux, and because of it's entry size, makes it easier to couple light from the source into the transmission medium. It has a major disadvantage in that it cannot easily transmit light around bends or corners without significant light losses by the usage of mirrors, etc. Thus it is typically configured in a straight path. 3M, currently manufactures the material most often found in the light pipe, the ScotchTM Optical Lighting Film (SOLF). The theory of using this product in the light pipe is described in an Application Bulletin, by this name, Scotch[™] Optical Lighting Film, November 1988. The SOLF is a clear plastic film, approximately 0.5mm (0.02 in) in width and manufactured by a special 3M process called microreplication. This process provides prisms grooves on one side and a smooth surface on the other. A cylindrical 'pipe' (other shapes are possible) is then formed, with the smooth side in and the grooves outside and parallel to the length of the pipe. The SOLF will act as a mirror or a window depending on how the angle of the light (which is placed at one end of the pipe), strikes the material. An extractor can be added to send the light out along the length of the tube, which is the method employed for room lighting (both ends could be equipped with a light source). Or, the light can simply be transported to the far end. For this method the amount of light which is sent down the length of a simple round SOLF is specified as a function of the aspect ratio of the light pipe.

The aspect ratio is defined as the ratio of the tube length to the tube diameter, or thus, the larger the diameter of the tube, the more light which can be sent for an equivalent distant. This relationship, which is given in the 3M application bulletin previously referenced is illustrated in Fig. 2-1.



Figure 2-1. Light Transport VS Aspect Ratio for a Light Pipe

Although the light pipe is not specifically addressed in this project, it is mentioned in both this and the previous Chapter because of the numerous current and possible future applications using this concept for remote source lighting. Also, it was found during the investigation that some undocumented sources describing uses of remote source lighting with fiber light guide technology were actually referring to ones using the light pipe. A good description of many hollow light guide applications can be found in the International Lighting Review, [Ref. 36] and the Hollow Light Guide Applications Report published by the CIE Technical Committee, referenced in Chapter 1. Following are a list of the various hollow light guide applications described in this latter reference.

- Building Lighting,
- Display and Advertising Lighting,
- Hazardous Area Lighting,
- Pole Lighting,
- Roadway Lighting,

- Tunnel Lighting,
- Vehicular Lighting, and
- Walkway Lighting.

The fiber light guide is much smaller in diameter then the light pipe and at present typically cannot carry the same amounts of light flux. However, it does have the advantage of being able to direct the light around bends or other non straight paths. Both the hollow and fiber light guides transport light by means of total internal reflection.

TOTAL INTERNAL REFLECTION:

The concept of total internal reflection is well known by many and can be found in most basic physics books, thus it will only briefly be discussed.

Light passing through a medium can be represented as a ray of an infinitely small narrow beam traveling along a specific path. One of the more important laws for light transmission through a medium is Snell's law which defines this path. When light strikes the interface between any two mediums, such as air and water, as shown in Figure 2-2, part of the light wave is reflected back into the first medium and the other part is transmitted into the second medium.



Figure 2-2. A Light Ray Incident Upon the Surface of Water is Bent Toward the Normal.

In Figure 2-2 the ray which is bent into the water away from the normal to the interface is said to be refracted, where the normal to the interface is a line perpendicular

to the surface. For rays reflected, the angle of the incidence ray with respect to the normal (θ) is equal to the angle of the reflection ray. For refraction, the angle of refraction is bent toward the normal. The second medium's index of refraction, denoted by n, determines the angle of bending to the normal. The refraction index is the ratio of the speed of light in a vacuum, c, to the speed of light in the given medium, ν , and is defined by the equation:

$$n = c/\nu \qquad (1)$$

A list for the index of refraction for several common materials [Ref. 73] is provided below:

Medium	Index of refraction	
Vacuum	1.0	
Air	1.0003	
Water	1.33	
Optical Fiber	1.6	
Diamond	2.2	

Snell's law is defined by the equation:

$$n_1 \sin \theta_1 = n_2 \sin \theta_2$$

where

 n_1 = refractive index of medium 1, θ_1 = angle of incidence to the normal, n_2 = refractive index of medium 2, θ_2 = angle of refraction to the normal.

When $\sin \theta_2$ is equal to 1, the phenomenon known as total internal reflection occurs, and θ_1 is called the critical angle, θ_c . For optic fibers, light is sent through a silicon or plastic fiber surrounded by a special cladding material. The index of refraction of the cladding with respect to the core is selected so that it is less than the fiber core at a ratio which will cause total reflection. A jacket surrounding the cladding absorbs all of the rays except the total reflection rays. This is illustrated in Figure 2-3.

(2)



Figure 2-3. Total Internal Reflection in a Fiber Cable

In order for the light to be sent through the face of the fiber, the ray must enter within the critical angle. The numerical aperture (NA) is used to specify the light-gathering capability of a fiber. This number is defined as the sine of half the angle of a fiber's acceptance cone. The acceptance cone and angle is illustrated in Figure 2-4 and is related to the index of refraction of the fiber core and the cladding.



Figure 2-4. Acceptance Cone and Angle of a Fiber

Or, mathematically,

$$NA = \sin \theta_a$$

which is equivalent to:

$$NA = \sqrt{n_1^2 - n_2^2}$$

where n_1 and n_2 are the refractive indexes of the core and cladding respectively.

FIBER LIGHT GUIDES:

When using either the hollow light guide or the fiber light guide for remote source lighting, four components are required: the light source, the coupling mechanism, the light transmission medium or light guide, and the output optics. The fiber light guides have an important advantage over the light pipe in that they can be bent, and thus directed toward individual targets or pixels. However, the bend radius is important as there is obviously a limit on how far the fiber can be bent. The bend radius is usually provided by the manufacturer and related to the diameter of the fiber. The rule of thumb that is often used is that the radius of the bend should be no smaller than ten times the fiber's diameter. One light source can distribute individual light points to a number of targets. This is one of the reasons they are used in many various displays and ornament lighting applications, and in transportation related applications such as the changeable message signs.

There are two types of fiber guides, silicon based, and plastic. Between the plastic and silicon light guides, the silicon guides have the best light transfer characteristics or lower light attenuation. However, because of their size (50 to 150 micro meter), they are not as practical for many common applications. Because the silicon guide is only a few micrometers in diameter, a number of these fibers would need to be bundled together to transfer the same amount of luminous flux as the larger plastic guides. Thus, the cost of using these guides for the same or approximate size wave guide is considerable more. Figure 2-5 illustrates a bundled fiber guide.



Figure 2-5. Bundled Fiber Guide

In this figure, the individually bundled fibers are illustrated by 1. The cladding surrounding the bundle of the individual fiber guides is illustrated by 2. Plastic fiber guides are usually referred to as small core plastic optical fibers, SCPOF, with diameters from 125 to 3000 micrometers, or the bigger, large core plastic optical fibers, LCPOF with diameters to 18 millimeters. The smaller diameter plastic guides are also often bundled to increase the entry aperture to cables of 1 to 10 millimeters in diameter. As in the case of the silicon guide, this further increases costs. The LCPOF are the most efficient because they have a larger optically active area even when bundled to a cable of the same size.

The plastic guides can be constructed for either side or end lighting. For side lighting, the light is extracted along the fiber instead of at the end, as the case for the end lighting fibers. For the side lighting fibers, a reflective surface is often provided at the end to provide more light on the sides by reflecting the light back.

The costs of optical fibers varying considerably, depending on the size and quality of the materials used in the manufacturing process. The silicon fiber typically cost much more, but not only having the better transmission characteristics, but greater life. The silicon fibers are generally less affected by environmental conditions. Plastic fibers tend to become brittle and yellow over time. They do not last as long as the silicon when in close proximity to high temperatures, as can be the case when coupling the light source to the fiber.

COUPLING:

For both the silicon and plastic light guides it is difficult to couple light from the light source (often referred to as the light engine) into the light guide without significant light losses. For light transfer, there is light loss at any junction or interface (e.g., plastic to air, plastic to plastic, etc.) as some of the light is transmitted, some is absorbed and some will be reflected as discussed earlier. The larger diameter plastic fiber makes it easier to couple the source. Manufacturers or companies distributing fiber light guides will typically offer some device to couple the light into the fiber. These can range from no coupling device to devices specifically designed for efficient coupling, such as the GE Lighting "integrating coupler" [Ref. 76]. Appropriately designed couplers provide thermal isolation, reduce UV light, and provide for a more uniform light intensity into the fiber.

When no special coupling device is provided the light is typically coupled by the insertion of the fiber tube into the case containing the light source and aligning it to the focal point of the reflector. This configuration usually results in the greatest losses. For such coupling, although adequate for many applications, the designer must give consideration to heat from the light source which can damage the plastic fiber tube. An installation can include a small fan in the source enclosure to help cool the fiber.

The following formula given in [Ref. 35] provides an estimate of the maximum fraction, x, of the flux from a lamp with luminous surface area A_s coupled into a fiber bundle of aperture area A_f and an acceptance half-angle α (NA).

 $x = A_f / A_s \sin^2 \alpha$ (x smaller than one) (5)

As observed, for the same numerical aperture, the formula indicates that the efficiency is only a function of the ratio of the areas and does not depend on the optical system. This relationship, along with that for an elliptical reflector is illustrated in Figure 2-6 below.



Figure 2-6. Coupling Efficiency Versus Acceptance Half Angle

Thus from this relation it is illustrated that the best way to couple light into a small fiber aperture is to use a source with a high flux and a small luminous surface area. The figure and relation shows that an elliptical reflector with an axially-mounted discharge lamp approaches this efficiency if properly designed. This is illustrated in the figure. An example of a well designed lamp is the GE Lighting Xenon Halide Lamp, specifically designed for fiber cables. The GE SMH60 lamp and reflector system , a 60 watt lamp, emits a total of 4200 lumens. For this lighting system, 2000 lumens can be collected by a 12 mm diameter aperture placed at the focal point. The reflector has been optimized for use with fibers with acceptance half-angles of 30 degrees.

Once the light is coupled to the surface of the light guide, the concentration of the light as it is introduced into the light guide must also be considered. For instance, if the light source is a laser beam, the light will be highly concentrated or focused to the aperture surface. The typical light source does not have such a concentration factor. The importance of the concentration of the light to the aperture is discussed in Chapter 3.

MODE AND PROPAGATION CONSIDERATIONS:

The propagation characteristics of an electromagnetic wave as it travels in a fiber is determined by its mode. When the ray is along the center axis the fiber is referred to as a single-mode fiber. With more than one path, the fiber is referred to as a multi-mode fiber. Single mode fibers are common in telecommunication systems. For these systems, it is important that the light ray maintain the characteristics of the signal, which it won't if part of the light travels a longer path, as occurs with multi-mode fibers. This is illustrated in Figure 2-7 for the single mode fiber and Figure 2-8 for the multi-mode fiber.



Multi-mode Fiber

The multi-mode fiber is used for remote source lighting as it makes little difference if the individual light rays to not reach the end of the fiber at the same time, as long as they at least get there.

ATTENUATION CONCEPTS:

Light traveling through a fiber medium is attenuated in accordance to both the material type and its wavelength. Visible light is between the wavelength bandwidths of 450 to 700 nanometers. (Figure 2-9). On the other hand, telecommunications use light sources in the infrared regions, above the 700 nanometers.



Figure 2-9. Electromagnetic Spectrum Showing the Approximate Boundaries Between Spectral Regions Used for Optic Fiber.

The transmission loss in fibers is further attenuated by several processes, one of which is known as Rayleigh scattering at the shorter wavelength, and another, the umltiphonon absorption at the longer wavelength regions. Chapter 3 discusses these attenuation or losses in greater detail.

The transmission characteristics of a typical silicon and plastic fiber as a function of wavelengths is illustrated in Figure 2-10. As can be noted in the figure, much less attenuation occurs in the wavelengths in the infrared range, and as noted, this is the range used in the telecommunication field. However, for visible light, the wavelength are much more affected by the attenuation of the fiber material. Notice also from this figure that silicon or glass fibers typically have better characteristics or less losses than do plastic fibers.



Wavelength (nm)

Figure 2-10. Typical Attenuation Characteristics of Light as it Travels through Plastic and Silicon Fiber Guides.

The loss of light or its attenuation as it propagates through an optical fiber is expressed by the equation:

 $a = 10 * \log [P(0)/P(L)]$

where a = the attenuation coefficient in dB/km

L = the fiber length in km. P(0) = the power or intensity of the light at the source end, and P(L) = the power or intensity of the light at the far end.

If for example, a light is attenuated by 3 dB it is attenuated by about 50 percent. Single-mode fibers are typically found with attenuations of 0.2dB or less per kilometer at a wavelength of say 1550 nm. That is for light at 1550 nm, only about 4.5 percent of optical power is lost over one kilometer. Contrasting this with visible light at say 700 nm, losses of 50 percent in just 10 meters, or a little more than 30 feet, is common for many plastic fibers.

Since light sources typically provide light with many wavelengths, and since the light intensity of each of these wavelengths are affected differently by the fiber light

guide, it is possible that the original light will not only be attenuated in overall or average intensity, but also the colors will be somewhat different. The distribution of the intensity of light for a typical light source is illustrated in Figure 2-11. The resulting light distribution after it propagates through a light guide, could be somewhat different.



Figure 2-11. Spectral Distribution of the Light Source [Ref. 76]

Chapter 3 will discuss a model for investigating these attenuation characteristics. The model will then be applied to various possible applications of fiber light guides which will be useful in discussing the implementation issues in Chapter 4.

CHAPTER 3

FIBER LIGHT GUIDE MODEL

A fiber light guide model for straight fibers is described in this Chapter. The model was developed similar to the one developed by Nader et al. [Ref. 31]. The model described in this Chapter is for straight fibers. The model in the Reference also includes bent fibers. The model by Nader et al was not available for general use at the time of this investigation so the model described in this Chapter was developed so that the various conditions discussed in the previous and next Chapters could be investigated. To verify the model, the parameters for the fibers described in [Ref. 31] were used and similar results were obtained. The model, as will be discussed in Chapter 4, was also found to provide similar results to some of the manufacturers specifications and is thus useful for determining an estimate of the expected attenuation results for various applications.

MONTE CARLO METHOD:

The Monte Carlo simulation method [Ref. 77] is used for simulation of light through an optical fiber. The method is common for static simulation techniques to solve problems where analytical solutions are not possible or easily obtained. Basically using this method provides a means to determine an estimate of the light loss or attenuated from entry to exit of an optical fiber. The concept of the simulation method is to first determine the path of a light ray as it transverses through the fiber. If the light ray is parallel to the axis of the fiber, and if the fiber is straight, then the ray entering will exit with only extinction or energy losses (loses due to the characteristics of the fiber's molecular structure). If the ray is not parallel to the axis, then it will, at some point, strike the cladding and thus be reflected, or refractive as described in Chapter 2. The refracted ray is loss in the cladding. The reflective ray is then followed to the next intersection with the fiber wall. This process is continued for the ray until it is either lost or exits the fiber. A similar process is performed for each ray for a sample set of rays. The accuracy of the simulation process depends on the sample size and how representative the ray characteristics and fiber characteristics are to actual rays. A representative sample is obtained by selecting unbiased ray characteristics.

To obtain such characteristics, the Monte Carlo method involves selecting random characteristics which permits all possible characteristics of a ray to be equally likely to be selected. Thus, the more samples so randomly selected, the more representative the sample and the closer the sample characteristics represent the population of all rays which would transverse the fiber. This chapter describes how a path is defined, the various options for each path and finally, how a sample of such rays are used to estimate the losses in the fiber for various fiber characteristics.

OPTIC FIBERS:

As discussed in the previous Chapter, the fiber light guide consists of the core, the cladding, and the jacket. First the analysis of straight lines of fiber optic illumination systems is performed.

For light passing through a transparent medium, the light can be represented as a ray of an infinite small narrow beam. The radius of the fiber is much larger than the wavelength, and ray theory can be applied to uniform core optical fibers with good accuracy for large values of the V number. The V number is defined as:

$$V = 2\pi R_f \sqrt{n_1^2 - n_2^2} / \lambda$$

where R_f is the fiber core radius; n_1 and n_2 are the refractive indices of the core, and cladding respectively, and λ is the wavelength.

As discussed in the previous chapter, Snell's law specifies the relationship of the incident light ray to the reflected and refracted wave. Thus as long as the incident angle is less than the critical angle, the phenomenon known as total internal reflection occurs, and the light rays are transmitted through the wave guide. For optic fibers, the cladding index is less than the core so as to permit total reflection. The jacket absorbs all of the rays except the total reflection rays.

The Monte Carlo method is used to solve this simulation of the fiber optics. This method, as in all simulation methods using random variables, only provides an estimate of the actual solution, but is used when analytical methods are not obtainable. The problems involved in this and other simulation procedures using random variables can be found in [Ref. 77].

THE DENSITY FUNCTION:

Assuming a uniform input on the surface of the optical fiber, the point position of flux input on a ring can be obtained with a position vector r from the ring center and an azimuthal angle ϕ with respect to the x-axis. Both of the random numbers, R_{ϕ} related to ϕ , and R_r related to the position r, can be obtained:

$$R_{\phi} = \int_{0}^{\phi} d\phi \Big/ \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\phi \tag{3}$$

and

$$R_r = \int_{r_i}^{r} r dr \Big/ \int_{r_i}^{r_o} r dr \quad . \tag{4}$$

For an azimuthally symmetric input, an azimuthal angle can be obtained from:

$$\phi = 2\pi R_{\phi} \quad . \tag{5}$$

For $r_i=0$, the position vector can be obtained from:

$$r = R_f \sqrt{R_r} \tag{6}$$

where R_f is defined above.

The direction of flux input on the fiber can be obtained by knowing the source distribution. For the point source the total flux on the surface is:

$$\phi_{\Gamma} = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi/2} I(\theta, \psi) \sin \theta \, d\theta \, d\psi \quad , \tag{7}$$

where

I: the luminous intensity of the luminaries, θ : the zenith angle with respect to the normal of the surface at the point, ψ : the azimuthal angle with respect to the tangent at the point.

If *I* is independent of ψ , the total flux ϕ_r is:

$$\phi_{\Gamma} = 2\pi \int_{0}^{\pi/2} I(\theta) \sin \theta \, d\theta \quad , \tag{8}$$

the distribution function would then be

$$\phi_T = \frac{1}{\phi_T} \int_0^{\psi} \int_0^{\pi/2} I(\theta) \sin \theta \, d\theta \, d\psi = \frac{\psi}{2\pi} \quad . \tag{9}$$

In the similar way, the azimuthal angle can be related to the random number by

$$\psi = 2\pi R_{\psi} \quad . \tag{10}$$

The zenith angle θ at a particular ψ can be related to the random number by

$$R_{\theta} = \int_{0}^{\theta} I(\theta) \sin \theta \ d\theta \Big/ \int_{0}^{\pi/2} I(\theta) \sin \theta \ d\theta \quad .$$
(11)

If the flux input to the fiber can be found by

$$I(\theta) = I_n \cos^M(\theta) \tag{12}$$

where M is a concentration parameter, and the larger the M value the narrower the beam spread is, then

$$\theta = \cos^{-1} \left(1 - R_{\theta} \right)^{1/(M+1)} .$$
(13)

All four parameters shown above will be incorporated into the modeling of straight fibers to simulate the light transferring through the transmission line of optic fibers.

THE MODELING OF STRAIGHT FIBERS:

The geometric description of ray tracing through a straight fiber will be presented. The detail of the geometry of a straight fiber and the light traveling is shown in Figure 3-1. The heavy lines in the Figure 3-1 indicate the ray tracing through the fiber. All surfaces are modeled by the coordinated, x, y, and z, or the unit vectors, \hat{i} , \hat{j} , and \hat{k} , and their local coordinates with two unit tangents and a normal as follows:

$$\hat{t}_1 = \frac{d\bar{r}/du_1}{\left|d\bar{r}/du_1\right|} \tag{14}$$

$$\hat{t}_2 = \frac{d\bar{r}/du_2}{\left|d\bar{r}/du_2\right|} \tag{15}$$

$$\hat{n} = \frac{\hat{t}_1 \times \hat{t}_2}{\left|\hat{t}_1 \times \hat{t}_2\right|} \tag{16}$$

where \hat{t}_1 and \hat{t}_2 are unit vectors tangent to the surface and perpendicular to each other, and \hat{n} is a unit vector normal to the surface. \vec{r} is a position vector pointing from the center of the ring of the fiber to a point on the surface. u_1 and u_2 are two surface parameters.



Figure 3-1. Surface Description of the Core of a Fiber

For surface 1 in Figure 3-1, the position vector of the flux input on the base is

$$\bar{r_1} = r_1 \cos \phi_1 \,\hat{i} + r_1 \sin \phi_1 \,\hat{j} \tag{17}$$

where ϕ_1 is the azimuthal angle with respect to the x-axis measured counterclockwise as shown in Figure 3-1. The tangents and the normal vector can be found as:

$$\hat{t}_{11} = \frac{d\bar{r}/dr}{\left|d\bar{r}/dr\right|} = \cos\phi_1 \,\hat{i} + \sin\phi_1 \,\hat{j} \tag{18}$$

$$\hat{t}_{21} = \frac{d\bar{r}/d\phi}{|d\bar{r}/d\phi|} = -\sin\phi_1 \,\hat{i} + \cos\phi_1 \,\hat{j} \tag{19}$$

$$\hat{n}_1 = \hat{k} \tag{20}$$

where \hat{t}_{11} is tangent number 1 on surface 1, \hat{t}_{21} is tangent number 2 on surface 1, and \hat{n}_1 is normal to the surface 1.

Following the same procedure for surface 2 and surface 3, the position vector, the tangents, and the normal are:

$$\bar{r}_2 = r_2 \, \cos \phi_2 \, \hat{i} + r_2 \, \sin \phi_2 \, \hat{j} + L \hat{k} \qquad 0 \le r_2 \le R_f \, , \, 0 \le \phi_2 \le 2 \, \pi \qquad (21)$$

$$\hat{t}_{12} = -\sin\phi_2 \,\hat{i} + \cos\phi_2 \,\hat{j} \tag{22}$$

$$\hat{t}_{22} = \cos \phi_2 \, \hat{i} + \sin \phi_2 \, \hat{j} \tag{23}$$

$$\hat{n}_2 = -\hat{k} \tag{24}$$

$$\bar{r}_{3} = R_{f} \cos \phi_{3} \,\hat{i} + R_{f} \sin \phi_{3} \,\hat{j} + z\hat{k} \qquad 0 \le z \le L \ , \ 0 \le \phi_{3} \le 2\pi \qquad (25)$$

$$\hat{t}_{13} = \hat{k} \tag{26}$$

$$\hat{t}_{23} = -\sin\phi_3 \,\hat{i} + \cos\phi_3 \,\hat{j} \tag{27}$$

$$\hat{n}_{3} = -\cos\phi_{3}\,\hat{i} - \sin\phi_{3}\,\hat{j}$$
(28)

where L is the length of the cylinder, and R_f is its radius of the fiber.

If a ray comes from the surface 1, the point of intersection with surface 3 can calculated as:

$$\bar{r} = \bar{r}_1 + D\hat{S}_e = (x_1 + DS_{ex})\hat{i} + (y_1 + DS_{ey})\hat{j} + (z_1 + DS_{ez})\hat{k}$$
(29)

where D is the distance from the point of flux input to the point of reflection. The unit vector of the ray can be found from:

$$\hat{S}_{e} = \sin\theta \cos\psi \,\hat{i} + \sin\theta \sin\psi \,\hat{j} + \cos\theta \,\hat{k}$$
(30)

where θ and ψ are the zenith and azimuthal angles with respect to \hat{n} and \hat{t}_1 respectively. We obtain three equations with three unknowns D, z, and ϕ_3 .

From Figure 3-1 and the equations shown above, we know

$$\overline{r} = \overline{r_2},\tag{31}$$

and find

$$\left(\frac{r_{1x} + DS_{ex}}{R}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{r_{1y} + DS_{ey}}{R}\right)^{2} = 1 \quad .$$
(32)

Expand the equation above, and we define

$$a = S_{ex}^2 + S_{ey}^2$$
(33)

$$b = 2\left(S_{ey}r_{1y} + S_{ex}r_{1x}\right) \tag{34}$$

$$c = r_{1x}^2 + r_{1y}^2 - R^2 \tag{35}$$

and we find the three known relations:

$$D = \frac{-b \pm \sqrt{b^2 - 4ac}}{2a} \qquad D > 0, \tag{36}$$

$$z_{3} = \left(DS_{ez} + r_{1z} \right), \tag{37}$$

$$\phi_{3} = \cos^{-1} \left(\frac{r_{1x} + DS_{ex}}{R} \right) \quad . \tag{38}$$

The incident angle is calculated as:

$$\theta_i = \cos^{-1} \left(-\overline{S}_i \bullet \hat{n}_3 \right) . \tag{39}$$

For the total reflection (i.e. the incident angle is larger than a critical value) the reflected ray vector can be found:

$$\overline{S}_r = \overline{S}_i + 2 \left| \overline{S}_i \bullet \hat{n} \right| \hat{n} \quad . \tag{40}$$

As the light ray travels into the air from the optical fiber, the difference in the index of refraction between the air and the core causes the ray to refract. The angle of refraction can be obtained from Snell's law.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION:

With the Monte Carlo method the trace flux transfer through optical fibers can be simulated. The optical fiber configuration for the straight optical fiber is defined similar to that in [Ref. 31]. After calculating the critical angle, we can repeat the loop for each ray, and then through the number of sub-samples. The angle of refraction is calculated. If the ray goes straight to the output of the fiber, we can then repeat for the next ray. If not, the ray must strike the fiber/cladding interface. We then find the incident angle to

the normal of the interface, and compare it to the critical angle. If the incident angle is less than the critical value, the ray is lost. The ray is followed until it reaches the output of the fiber. The total effective length traveled by all rays that is not lost are calculated. The process is then repeated over for next sub-sample. The average critical angle losses are found along with an average effective length and a confidence interval. The efficiency of the fiber due to the total losses is the ratio of the output flux of the fiber to the input flux of the source:

$$\varepsilon = \eta_c \tau_f \left(1 - \rho_f \right) e^{-\beta S} \tag{41}$$

where

$$\eta_c = \tau_c \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{A}},\tag{41a}$$

$$\tau_c = 1 - N_{rc} / N_T \,, \tag{41b}$$

$$\tau_f = 1 - N_{rf} / \left(N_T - N_{rc} \right) \tag{41c}$$

 ε_A is the efficiency of the coupling between the source and the fiber, τ_c is the transmittance of critical angle losses, N_{rc} is the number of rays lost due to critical angle, N_T is the total number of rays, τ_f is the transmittance of Fresnel losses, N_{rf} is the number of rays lost due to total Fresnel reflections, β is the extinction coefficient per unit length within the fiber core such as absorption of water, and S is the effective length. As shown in Figure 3-2, if a ray hits the interface at the end of the fiber, and if it is not totally reflected, it is partially reflected. The reflectivity ρ_f is equal to the value of the percentage of rays reflected.



Figure 3-2. Critical Angle Losses for a Sample Plastic Optical Fiber

The calculation method described above was used to simulate the behavior of straight fibers with different input flux. Simulation parameters for Figure 3-2 to 3-4 are:

1000 random numbers with uniform distribution generated, 10 samples of the 1000 random numbers calculated for confidence interval, the radius of the fiber = 0.0015, the index of the core = 1.491, the index of the cladding = 1.419, and the extinction coefficient = $0.03 m^{-1}$. The unit for the length of the fiber is in meters. The concentration value, M, is used as the value of the x-axis of those figures. The angle of sine of the indexes is 1.258759 radius, or 72.121597 degrees.



Figure 3-3. Effective Length for a Cladded Plastic Optical Fiber

The critical angle losses for various flux inputs are shown in Figure 3-2. Figure 3-3 shows the effect of the value of the concentration parameter on the effective length of the fiber. From these figures, we can see that both losses are not related to the length of the fiber.



Figure 3-4. Efficiency of a Plastic Optical Fiber Considering Critical Angle, Fresnel, and Extinction Losses

We can compute the effect of the concentration parameter on the total efficiency of the fiber for critical angle losses as well as extinction losses. Figure 3-4 shows the efficiency of total losses of a fiber with an extinction coefficient of 0.03 m^{-1} with different geometric configurations and values of concentration, M. From Figure 3-4 it is noted that reducing the beam spread beyond a certain point does not significantly increase the efficiency.

CHAPTER 4

ECONOMICAL AND IMPLEMENTATTION CONSIDERATIONS

Various economical and implementation issues will be discussed in this chapter for remote source lighting using fiber light guides. In particular, first some general characteristics of various fibers will be discussed. Then each of three application areas specified earlier, that is, street, tunnel and navigation lighting will be examined. Some discussions on other possible application areas will then be included, followed by a brief discussion of the new electrodeless sulfur lamp offered by Fusion Lighting Inc. This lamp is mentioned as it could aid the efforts of remote source lighting.

The Ideal Fiber Guide:

In a visit to the lighting group at 3M Corporation, the characteristics of an ideal optical plastic fiber using current manufacturing processes were specified as follows:

- Spectral Transmission range of 300-800 nm
- Acceptance angle of 40 degrees or higher
- Core Refractive Index of 1.48 or higher
- Cladding refractive index of 1.34 or lower
- Transmission loss less than 2 percent per foot at 550 nm (250db/km)
- Light extraction element efficiency approaching 80%

One of the problems in manufacturers' specifications is that often the attenuation is given as an average over a frequency range. the actual characteristics throughout the visible light range, or an attenuation level is specified for a particular frequency, as in the above. As noted from the Figure 2-10, some frequencies have less light losses than others. Additionally, there are other losses involved as noted in Chapters 2 and 3. Finally, one must insure that the type of fiber guide is considered. The silicon fiber guides have much better light transmission characteristics, but are also much smaller. For example, the transmission loss per meter shown in one specification is around 0.4 percent at 550nm. The size of the silicon fibers range from 100 to 800 micro-meter. Thus clearly, many of these would have to be bundled for usage in the application areas considered.

The bottom line losses should be determined from the amount of light actually coupled to the light guide, the amount of light loss due to the critical angle, and the extinction losses. This will be discussed next for street lighting.

Street Lighting:

As noted earlier, although fiber optics are currently being used in changeable message signs, it doesn't appear that it is yet practical for the applications involving the transfer of large amounts of luminous flux for distances associated with street lighting, etc. Figure 4-1 illustrates the losses involved for a typical system using a light source designed specifically for remote source lighting, or the GE Xenon Metal Halide System. For this system the light source provides 4200 lumens of which approximately, 2000 is available for a fiber with a diameter of 18 mm. This figure also includes a coupler, which can add additional losses, the fiber cable, using the characteristics of the 'ideal' fiber given above, and the output lens. Recall that losses of up to 8 percent can be expected when going from one medium to another, although for the calculations to follow, only 8 percent will be included for the extraction at the output or distribution head. From this figure and using the simulation of Chapter 3, a cable of 15 meters can result in a total loss of up to 74 percent. Thus the lamp with 4200 lumens, projecting about 2000 lumens to the fiber surface results in a total output from the other end of this fiber system of 2000*0.26*0.92 or 478 lumens. Special couplers provide for averaging of the light intensity, color, and thermal isolation but can also result in additional losses as described in Chapter 2.

Now let us consider similar loses for a street lighting system. Assume a street light with the dimension characteristics of Figure 4-2. Assume a High Pressure Sodium (HPS) lamp 250 watts is used which generates 26,000 lumens. Since the 15 meter length required for Figure 4-1 would be appropriate for Figure 4-2, a lamp generating 26,000/(0.26*0.92) or 108,695 lumens would be required for an equivalent output. This factor 4.18,1/(0.26*09.2), would probably in practice be much greater as no coupler loss was assumed. A coupler of same type would probably be need to prevent heating problems on the fiber for such a light source.

In addition to the light source and lens, the coupling (special coupling to insure no heat damage to the fibers) and bending angle could also add additional losses. These are some of the reasons optical fiber lighting have not yet been used in street lighting.







Figure 4-2 Typical Street Lighting Configuration

TUNNEL LIGHTING

As noted earlier, remote source lighting is being implemented for tunnel lighting at several sites including the Callahan Tunnel in Boston, Massachusetts and can also be found in Japan. The lighting systems are using the hollow light guide or light pipe. For the Callahan System (Ref. 71), the number of hollow light tube sections and the light sources are provided as follows:

Length of Sections	Lamp Wattage	Total Footage	# of Sections	
9.75m (32.ft) Sections	250W	2002m(10.138ft)	217	
9.75m (32 ft) Sections	400W	88m(260ft)	9	
3.29m (10.8ft) Sections	400W	323m (1,060ft)	98	

The lighting along the tunnel is accomplished using the light tubes and extractors to provide the side lighting required. In the primary run on each wall of the tunnel, the 9.75m light pipes with the 250W luminares maintain a light level of 80.73 lux (7.5fc). In the threshold transition zones, the 3.29m (10.8ft) sections and 400W lamps provide increased light levels up to 1292 lux (120fc). The Light pipes are 12.25mm (6 inch) diameter impact-resistance acrylic.

Next consider the fiber light guide. The average luminance along a 1.524m (5 ft) length of 12mm optic cable using a 150 watt metal halide lamp at one end of the fiber is given by the one manufacturer as follows:

Distance from the Lamp	Lux	Foot Candles
0.1504 (56)	210	20
0.1524m (.5ft)	310	30
0.3048m (1ft)	180	18
0.4572m (1.5ft)	115	12
0.6096m (2ft)	73	7.5
1.524m (5ft)	21	2.1

Consider using a number of these optical fiber guides in place of the light pipe. If we assume that the coupling arrangement can provide adequate protection from heating, we can project the usage of an equivalent size fiber light guide by bundling a number of $12 \text{mm} (1/2^{\circ})$ cables and using a 250W light source as follows:

First the illumination of a 4.877 m (16 ft), one half the pipe length, will be considered. The light pipe is 9.75m (32 ft) and there is a lamp at both ends of this section. Assuming the same general losses given above, we can project the light at 4.877 m (16 ft) for the optical fiber as 1.67 lux (0.416 fc).

Next, assume we can increase the light output by 1.67 by going to the 250 watt light. We will bundle the fibers vertically to get 12 mm, that is put 12 of the 12 mm cables together. The light pipe uses a light in each end. Assume we can do this and that the light output is doubled for the fiber cable by using some type of a similar configuration. No such light illuminator systems was mentioned in the manufacturer's literature, but we will assume that one could be constructed. This gives us a light at 4.877 m (16 ft) of 0.17 * 2 * 12 * 1.67 or 6.81 fc.

This also assumes that the system would maintain the same light level as the ones for the Callahan tunnel as specified above. This is likely a bad assumption as the specifications for the fiber are probably less than those specified for the measurement zones for the tunnel. Since the distance from the guide for the measurements were not given in the manufacturers information, we will give the optical fiber guide the benefit of the doubt. Additionally, not considered would be the package situation. The coupling of the light source into the fiber could also be difficult unless, two light sources or illuminator systems are used between each section, thus doubling the number of lights over the light pipe configuration. The cost for the fiber cables would have to include the package costs, bundling costs, as well as the coupling problems and the long range heating problems for the fiber could likely affect the life of the fiber cable. This simple analysis helps in understanding the reason why the light pipe was probably used as opposed to the fiber light guide.

NAVIGATION LIGHTING

There are a number of possibilities of using fiber light guides for navigation and/or bridge lighting. Such lighting applications would benefit by minimizing the exposure of the electricity or power sources from the water. As noted in Chapter 1, one of the first application areas of fiber light guides were for swimming pool lighting. Once again the main limitation to consider would be the attenuation or light losses. Since the distance problems and implementation issues were previously covered, a few additional comments will be offered. Both side and end lighting guides could be considered for this application. The typical light output for side lighting was already specified in the section on tunnel lighting. In this previous section it was noted that using the side lighting fibers, a 150 Metal Halide lamp produced about 310 lux (30 fc) from 0.1524 meters (0.5 ft) to 21 lux (2.1fc) at 1.524 meters (5 ft). Thus the problems of locating each of the light sources along the bridge at specified interval would still have to be considered.

Some typical costs for fiber systems include side lighting cables 12mm (1/2 in) diameter are about nine to ten dollars per foot. The end lighting 12 mm diameter cables can range from seven to eight dollars per foot. The installation extrusions, clips, etc could further increase the cost by \$0.85 to \$3.00 per foot. Finally, the light source and simple coupling systems can range from around \$175 for the standard illuminators with 150 watt bulbs up to \$500 for the heavier duty systems at 250 watts. These illuminators

can provide lighting and coupling for several cables. Prices on light guide bundling for such a system are difficult to estimate as a particular contractor would need to be specified and because there are no such existing systems. The "GE Lighting Optical Fiber Illumination System - A Basic Guide" provides instructions on how to create a simple bundle, which could be helpful in understanding what is required for the process. As noted earlier, G.E. also provides a source for an efficient light coupling device.

The light pipe is currently used for navigation lighting applications and are commercially available.

OTHER POSSIBLE USES:

As noted in previous chapters, there are many transportation related uses of fiber light guides. During a visit to the Minnesota DOT, it was noted that fiber light guides were being evaluated for use for hazard or warning signals for their snow plows. Several advantages were noted including only one light source and that source being located in the van or cab as opposed to being outside in the weather.

In a report by GE Lighting (Ref. 74), reference is made to the use of the Xenonmetal-halide light source and plastic optical light guides for use on the new Miata automobile head lights. They are currently being used in the instrument panels of several other automobile types. In these and other such applications, the main differences between them and the three primary areas investigated is of course the length of the fibers.

It could be possible to use the fiber light guides for traffic signal lights, particularly if the light source was located at the top of the pole, sending the light output to the signals in the center of the street. This particular application is where a phototype could be built and tested. Placing the source at the bottom of the pole would result in the same problems outlined for street lighting.

The use of the fiber light guide was also briefly considered for truck weighing systems. For these systems, it would be desirable to locate the light source some distance from the truck bays to prevent any hazards due to chemical spill, etc. If side lighting fibers were considered, the fiber characteristics listed above for tunnel lighting and used for this case would be questionable at best. However, the situation is further complicated as this would assume the light source would still be in the bays where the inspectors would work while examining the under carriage of the trucks. What would be needed, assuming the side lighting output would be sufficient, is an additional end lighting fiber which could extend the distance of the side lighting fibers from the source. No fiber systems or couplers were found which could splice an end lighting fiber to a side lighting fiber. Many advances will undoubtedly occur in the near future, and remote source lighting using the fiber optic cables could soon be the norm in the transportation field. On the other hand, with the new sulfur lamps, many of the advantages offered by remote source lighting could be minimized as will be discussed next.

THE ELECTRODELESS SULFUR LAMP:

As noted earlier (Chapters 1 and 2), the light pipe is often found in many applications (including transportation related) for remote source lighting. Although not practical yet for many other applications it could become so with the introduction and improvements to the new electrodeless sulfur lamp [Ref. 29]. This lamp can deliver a large amount a illumination and with the light pipe, it could be possible to replace many current lighting systems. The current 1000 watt sulfur lighting system now offered by Fusion Lighting, Inc., provides about 135,000 lumens. It currently sells for about \$1500.00. As this new lighting technology improves and longer life is obtained with the various components of this light, it is possible that bulb replacement and other maintenance considerations will no longer be as much of a concern as the bulb essentially doesn't burn out. Currently the weak link is the magnetron, which generates the microwave energy for the light. Other advantage of this lamp include long life and stable lumen output and color.

In a visit to the Lighting Systems Research Group at Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory, there was research interest in developing a high efficient roadway lighting system using a linear light guide and a high efficiency sulfur lamp. By new designs for the lamp, light tube, and fiber coupling, it might be possible to achieve street and high mask lighting with the light source located at the foot of the pole.

The new electrodeless bulbs, however, could well offer yet another improvement in conventional light sources which could negate some of the advantages of remote source lighting. That is, if a new light source lasts for great lengths of time, then there may not be a great advantage of having the remote lighting source for street lighting or other applications where maintenance is a problem. Of course, this wouldn't necessarily be the case for applications such as tunnel or navigation lighting.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS

This report provides results from a study to determine possible uses of the fiber optical light guide for remote source lighting in the Texas Department of Transportation. Fiber light guides are currently used within the Department for changeable message signs and signal heads. The investigation primarily considered its use for street, tunnel, and navigation lighting. The study concluded that it didn't appear practical at this time for street or tunnel lighting, although it could possibility be used for navigation lighting, particularly in conjunction with conventional lighting. Even for this latter case, it appears only a possibility for these situations for short distances and for electrical hazard considerations. The information in the report could help the designer for specific lighting configurations.

The major disadvantages of fiber light guides for the applications considered are the transmission light losses and the difficulty of transferring large amounts of luminous flux. For the changeable message signs, where the fiber light guides are often found in the Department, light is typically only transferred a few feet at most. For usage in roadway illumination or light signals with the light source located at the bottom of the pole, many meters of the fiber medium would be required to provide any significant maintenance advantage. There are significant losses for these situations.

There are two types commonly used light delivery systems which could be considered for TxDOT lighting requirements, the hollow light guides and the fiber light guides. The hollow light guides are used, particularly in new building designs and solar systems. There are several experimental sites where they are being used in transportation related applications for roadway illumination and tunnel lighting. The light pipe has a similar attenuation problem as the fiber light guide. However, because of it's diameter, it is easier to couple large amounts of light into the light guide for transmission and is thus more practical for large scale remote source lighting applications. Remote source lighting has many advantages over conventional lighting and when the problems discussed are or are partially solved, this technology could be useful for many transportation lighting applications.

Because of these findings, no implementation recommendations are provided. However, the technology is changing very rapidly and should be closely followed. The report can provide the lighting engineer with useful information regarding this new technology, and aid in following the advances in this field. Since traffic signal lights have somewhat different lighting requirements then street lighting, it could be possible as the technology improves, to use the technology in experimental sites. This is made even more likely if the light source can be located at the top of the pole. At least the maintenance trucks would not be required to go out to the middle of the street for bulb changes, etc. References were made by one person to such an existing system. However, this could never be confirmed. If continued research is desired, the development of such a light system for experimental studies could be one possible area for such continuation. This could be done by the Department, one of the Universities, one of the traffic light manufacturing companies, or a combination of these entities.

The effort was hampered in that many manufacturers only wanted to give general information. On one occasion, when inquiring about attenuation and amount of losses for possible configurations, it was stated that we should actually purchase the appropriate material and test to determine these characteristics. This was initially considered in the proposal as discussed in Chapter 1. However, it didn't appear practicable during the first year of the project, and is still somewhat questionable. The next step in this effort, if the Department wants to be involved in developing a system, would be to perform such an evaluation for perhaps the traffic signal light.

The electrodeless sulfur lamp should be closely followed as it could provide a source for usage in street lighting, either with optical fibers or simply to replace existing light sources.

REFERENCES

- 1. Designing for Night Vision, Public Service & Local Government, August, 1994.
- 2. Visibility Levels in Street Lighting, An Analysis of Different Experiment, Journal of the Illuminating Engineering Society, Vol. 22, No. 2, (summer) 1993.
- 3. Requirements for Application of Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs) to Traffic Control Signals, National Cooperative Highway Research Program, Research Results Digest, Number 205, April 1995.
- 4. *Further Developments in Tunnel Lighting Computations*, 1991(winter),Lewin, I.R. Heinisch Journal of the Illuminating Engineering Society, Vol. 20.
- 5. Simulation Modeling and Analysis, 2nd Edition, Law, Averill M., Kelton, W. David, McGraw-Hill, 1991.
- 6. *A Method for the Design of Tunnel Entrance Lighting*, Adrian, W. 1990, (winter) Journal of the Illuminating Engineering Society, Vol. 19.
- 7. *American National Standard Practice for Tunnel Lighting*, 1990, Approved December 15, 1987, American National Standards Institute Inc., Journal of the Illuminating Engineering Society, Vol. 19.
- Assessment of Beam Lighting Systems for Interior Core Illumination in Multistory Commercial Buildings, Mirkovich, D. N., ASHRAE Transactions, Vol. 99, No. PT.1, 1993, p.1106 -1116.
- 9. *The Power System for the Channel Tunnel*, Finn, J. S. 1994, July, Power Engineering Journal, Vol. 5 No. 4, p.157-166.
- 10. *Lighting & Energy Management*, May, 1992., Electrical Engineer, Vol. 69, No. 5, p.44.
- 11. *Guiding Lights-Lighting the Soaps--East and West Coast Style*, 1992, Calhoun, John. Lighting Dimensions, Vol. 16, No. 8, p.66, EOA.
- 12. Sunlight to Electric Power, Jonathan Haber, Northeast Sun: The official publication of the New England Solar Energy Association and the Mid-Atlantic Solar Energy Association, Vol.10, No. 3, (fall) 1992.

- A Robotic Lighting System for Solar Illumination Simulation, Richard Volpe, Douglas McAffee, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, California, 91109, Proceedings/IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation. IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, Vol. 4, p.3474, p.1050-4729, 1994.
- 14. Solar Street Lights Help Revitalize Downtown, prepared by Vincent Czaplyski of Hampton, New Hampshire, Public Works, Vol. 125, No. 2, February 1994.
- 15. The Rheinufer Tunnel in Dusseldorf, Its Electrical Systems Are Setting New Standards in Transport Safety, Holger Albat, Heinz Bornfleth, Uwe Kniep, and Siefried Schinschek, Engineering & Automation Vol. 16, No:3-4, May, p.36-40, August 1994.
- 16. Solar Illumination for Interior Spaces, Peter Y. Ngai, P.E., Lighting Design & Application Vol 13, No. 4, April 1983.
- 17. Solar Electricity-The Hybrid System Approach, M. A. Duguay, American Scientist, Vol. 65, p. 423, July-August 1977.
- 18. *A New Economics for Solar Energy*, Martin Learn, National Passive Solar Conference, Proceedings of the National Passive Solar Conference (1984).
- 19. *Lanterns of Sun*, Henry Plummer, Solar Age, p. 27-29, August, 1980.
- 20. Concentrated and Piped Sunlight for Indoor Illumination, L. M. Fraas, W. R. Pyle, and P. R. Ryason, Applied Optics, Vol. 22, No. 4, p. 578-582, February 15, 1983.
- 21. New Efficient Light Guide for Interior Illumination, L. A. Whitehead, R. A. Nodwell, and F. L. Curzon, Applied Optics, Vol. 21, No. 15, p. 2755-2757, August 1982.
- 22. *Fiber Optics for Displays*, Jake Brain, Information Display, Vol. 4 & 5, p. 14-15, 1994.
- 23. Bi-stability of the Pump Beam in One-Coupler and Two-Coupler Optical Fiber Ring Resonators by Using Degenerate Two-Wave Mixing, Y. H. Ja, Applied Optics, Vol. 32, No. 36, p.7418-7424, December 1993.
- 24. Solar Optics: Light as Energy; Energy as Light, David J. Bennett and David A. Euadi, Myers and Bennett Architects/BRW, Underground Space, Vol. 4, No. 6, p. 349-354.

- 25. A New Device for Distributing Concentrated Sunlight in Building Interiors, Lorne A. Whitehead, David N. Brown, and Roy A. Nodwell, Energy and Buildings, Vol.6, p. 119-125, 1984.
- 26. *Administration Centre*, Grote Kerkplein, International Lighting Review, Vol. 44, No. 4, p. 136-139, 1993.
- 27. Low-Loss Plastic Optical Fibers, Toshikuni Kaino, Michiya Fujiki, Shigeru Oikawa, and Shigeo Nara, Applied Optics, Vol. 20, No. 171, p. 2886-2888, September 1981.
- 28. Trends in Fiber Optic Beam Delivery for Materials processing with Lasers, T. R. Kugler, Optics and Photonics News, Vol. 5, No. 7, p. 15-18, July 1994.
- 29. Sulfur Lamps Progress in Their Development, B. P. Turner, M. G. Ury, Y. Leng, and W. G. Love, IES Annual Conference Ref #87.
- 30. *Photometric and Energy Assessment of a Novel Light Guide System*, Doug Crawford, Carl Gould, Michael Packer, Francis Rubinstein, and Michael Siminovitch, Lighting Research Group, Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory; University of California, Berkeley.
- Modeling Light Transfer Through Optical Fibers for Illumination Applications, Riad M. Nader Saraiji, Ph.D., Richard G. Mistrick, Ph. D., Michael F. Modest, Ph. D., IES Conference, August 1995.
- 32. *A Photometric and Energy Assessment of a Novel Lighting System*, Doug Crawford, Carl Gould, Michael Packer, Francis Rubinstein, and Michael Siminovitch, Lighting Research Group, Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory, University of California, Berkeley.
- 33. *Bridge Administration Manual A Guide to Bridge Lighting*, Enclosure 6; Comdtinst MI 6590.5.
- 34. *Piping Light Using Fibre Optics*, R. E. Owen, Lighting Developments and Applications, London, January 1991.
- 35. Part 1 Fibre-Optic Light Guides, , International Lighting Review.
- 36. *Part 2 Light Tubes*, International Lighting Review.
- 37. *Large Scale Core Daylighting by Means of A Light Pipe*, L. A. Whitehead, J. E. Scott, B. Lee and B. York, Sun World, Volume 11, No. 1, 1987.

- 38. Optical Fibers for High-Power Beam Delivery, T. M. Weedon, Industrial Laser Review, December, 1992.
- 39. A New Principle of Lighting Premises by Means of the Illuminating Devices with the Slit Lightguides, J. B. Aizenberg, G. B. Bukhman, and V. M. Pjatigorsky, Compte Rendu 18e Session, Londres 1975.
- 40. *Fiber Optic Illumination Systems*, Albert Frischknecht, Proceeding of SPIE, Vol 1265, Industrial Inspection II, March 1990.
- 41. A New Technique for Computer Simulation of Illuminated Spaces, Gregory J. Ward and Francis M. Rubinstein, Journal of the Illuminating Engineering Society (winter) 1988.
- 42. *The Latest on Fiber-Optic Lighting Technologies*, Lindsay Audin, Architectural Record Lighting, May 1995.
- 43. *Economics in Lighting*, R. G. Venning, ARUP Research & Development, Lighting Developments and Applications, London, January 1991.
- 44. *Tolerances in Lighting Design*, A. Fisher, Worldwide Searches, August 1995.
- 45. Eurotunnel, L'Europa E Oggi PiuUunita, Elettrificazione, October 1994.
- Tunnel Lighting: Method of Calculating Luminance of Access Zone L20, P.
 Blaser and H. Dudli BSc, Lighting Research & Technology, Vol. 25, No. 1, p 25-30, 1993.
- 47. *Compact Non-imaging Lens with Totally Internally Reflecting Facets*, William A. Parkyn and David G. Pelka, Physical Optics Corporation SPIE-The International Society for Optical Engineering.
- 48. *The If, Why and What of Street Lighting and Street Crime*, P. R. Boyce and J. M Gutkowski, Lighting Research Center, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, CIBSE National Lighting Conference, 1994.
- 49. *A Designer's Critique of Luminaires and Lamps*, E. Maddock, YRM Engineers, Lighting Developments and Applications, London, p.31, January 1991.
- 50. *A Manufacturer's Reply Lamps*, B. Booth, OSRAM Ltd., Lighting Developments and Applications, London, p 27, January 1991.
- 51. *A Manufacturer's Reply -- Luminaires*, K. Rippon, Holophane Europe Ltd., Lighting Developments and Applications, London, p 3.3, January 1991.

- 52. Overview of Regulations and Standards Lighting, J. E. Baker, Electricity Association, Lighting Developments and Applications, London, p.1.1, January 1991.
- 53. A Systems Approach to Remote Light Sources, Nils Borg, IAEEL Newsletter, Vol. 3, No. 9, April, 1994
- 54. *A Guide to Bridge Lighting/Bridge Administration Manual*, U. S. Department of Transportation, United State Coast Guard, Enclosure 6, COMDTINST, MI6590.5
- 55. *Multimessage Fiber-optic Lane-control Sign for Freeway Applications*, Paul Lavallee, Derek Sims, Scott Steward, Michael Lau, Journal of Transportation Engineering, Nov/Dec 1990.
- Dynamic Lane Assignment Using Fiber-optic Signs, Wayne L. Gisler, Neilon J. Rowan, Michael A. Ogden, Transportation Research Record, p. 10 - 17, No. 1368.
- 57 *Lamps and Luminaires A Designers View*, S. S. Storey, Lighting Design Limited, Lighting developments and Applications, London, January, 1991.
- 58. *The Lady With The Unicorn, Paris*, International lighting review, Vol. 44, No. 3, pp. 98, 1993.
- 59. Lighting Equipment/Lighting Sources, Design Manual, Traffic Operations Volume (TxDOT), pp. 4-5, April, 1995.
- 60. The Converging Tir Lens for Non-imaging Concentration of Light FromCompact Incoherent Sources, William A. Parkyn, Philip Gleckman, David G. Pelka. SPIE, Vol. 2016 Nonimaging Optics, 1993.
- 61. New Concepts in Street Lighting, Christopher Hugh Ripman, Architectural Record Lighting, February, 1995.
- 62. *Product Literature Spotlight*, Architectural Record Lighting, August 1994.
- 63. IALD Honors Eight Projects and Awards, a Surprise Special Recognition, Architectural Record Lighting, August, 1994.
- 64. The Art of Daylighting Art, Architectural Record Lighting, May, 1995.
- 65. Lighting Piping: A New Lighting System for Museum Cases, Catherine Sease, JAIC Vol. 32, pp. 279-90, 1993.
- 66. *Guide For the Lighting of Road Tunnels and Underpasses / Technical Report*, Publication CIE 88 - 1990, ISBN 3 900 734 25 9, UDC: 628.971.6:624.19 Descriptors: Lighting of Tunnels.

- 67. *Catalog of Traffic Control Strategies and Devices*, Texas Transportation Institute, cooperative research of State Department of Highways and Public Transportation, Research Report 321-1, Study 2-18-82-321, Traffic Control Planning.
- 68. *Equipment and Material Standards of the Institute of Transportation Engineers*, Institute of Transportation Engineers, December, 1994.
- 69. *Publications of the Lighting Research Group*, Energy & Environment Division, Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory, University of California, Berkeley, California 94720.
- 70. Building Technologies Program, 1993 Annual Report, Stephen E. Selkowitz, Program Head, Report No. LBL-35244, Energy & Environment Division, Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory, University of California.
- 71. Chesapeake Bay Bridge and Tunnel District Contract for Parallel Crossing to Lucius J. Kellam, Jr. Bridge Tunnel and Rehabilitation to Existing Bridge Tunnel, Project No., PCC 001, Volume 5 of 5, December, 1994.
- 72. International Lighting Review/Lighting in the Landscape, sponsored by Philips Lighting, ISSN 0020-7853
- 73. *Telecommunications*, Hioki, W., Englewood Cliffs, NJ., Prentice Hall, p.424, 1995.
- 74. Light Engine Application Information Guide, GE Lighting ©1992.
- 75. Requirements for Application of Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs) to Traffic Control Signals, Lighting Sciences, Inc. (John Corbin, Michael Janoff, and Ian Lewin) NCHRP Research Results Digest No. 205, April 1995.
- 76. Optical Fiber Illumination Systems—A Basic Guide, GE Lighting
- 77. Simulation Modeling & Analysis, 2nd Edition, Averill M. Law, W. David Kelton, McGraw-Hill, 1991.

•